
SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 9TH APRIL, 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 3.30 pm.  
This Meeting is for Committee Members only 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 
and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Recommendations made by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG Commissioners etc.) 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 18

4. Working Life 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

19 - 28

5. Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 29 - 84

6. Work Programme 2018/19 
To consider the attached report 85 - 96

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair)
                     G Lewis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:   J Amos, H R Jones, D Sammon, 
W R Smith and C T Jones

Co-optees:    J Beard, C Payne and E Wilkins-Campbell

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Recommendations made by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG Commissioners etc.). 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To receive a report on regulatory body recommendations and directions to see if the 

Council is addressing these satisfactorily. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee receive and consider this report and its content. 
 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This report is being presented today as it forms part of the scrutiny committee’s Work 

Programme. 
 
3.2 As a Welsh Unitary Authority, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) is 

responsible for providing a wide and complex range of both statutory and non-
statutory services to its citizens. These include for example Education Services and 
Social Services amongst others. 

 
3.3 To ensure that these services provide value for money and comply with their 

legislative and regulatory requirements as well providing best value and compliance 
with good practice they are regularly reviewed by a number of external audit and 
assessment regulatory bodies e.g. Wales Audit Office (WAO), the Care and Social 
Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW), Estyn etc. 

Date Written 01st April 2019 

Report Author Gary Evans 

Service Area Internal Audit 

Committee Date 09th April 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.4 The external reviews result in reports being published and provided to the Council, 
usually to a designated contact within the Council, with corresponding 
recommendations requiring implementation. 

 
3.5 The responsibility for monitoring and managing the implementation of external 

regulatory recommendations resided with the respective department and responsible 
officers. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Prior to January 2006 there was no central recording or monitoring system for 

internal audit or external audit/regulatory body recommendations and action plans. 
This was identified by the Internal Audit Service as a weakness in existing 
governance arrangements within the Council and it was determined to introduce 
measures to address this. 

 
4.2 The audit and inspection action plans (AAP) system was trialled at MTCBC from 

January 2006 and then implemented across the Authority from April 2006. This 
system was introduced as a means of focussing attention on the implementation of 
internal audit, external audit and inspection recommendations and action plans. 

 
4.3 The AAP system was intended to be utilised and operated by the Internal Audit 

Service and by MTCBC management on a wider scale. There were two distinct 
aspects to the system: 

 Monitoring, management and reporting of internal audit recommendations; and 

 Monitoring, management and reporting of external audit and inspection agency 
recommendations. 

 
4.4 Internal Audit was responsible for updating the AAP system with all internal audit 

recommendations and for monitoring and managing their implementation by service 
areas. 

 
4.5 Officers from all other departments were required to update their respective AAP 

with recommendations from other agencies (e.g. Wales Audit Office and other 
inspection regimes (CSSIW/Estyn) etc.).  

 
4.6 Overall monitoring of the AAP system was undertaken by the Internal Audit Service 

with annual reports being presented to the Audit Committee. 
 
4.7 Managers were reminded by the Internal Audit Service to update their AAP’s 

periodically and again specifically before progress on implementation was reported 
to the Audit Committee. 

 
4.8 The Wales Audit Office undertook a review of the Council’s Service Improvement 

Framework in 2015/2016 which included an assessment of the existing AAP system 
and reported upon their findings in their Annual Improvement Report for 2015/2016. 

 
4.9 Their published findings reported that the Council had a corporate mechanism in 

place for recording the recommendations made in all external and internal audit 
reports, the AAP system. They also made some criticism of the current 
arrangements in responding to external regulatory reports and reported that the 
Council was already aware of these and working on introducing improvements. 

Page 6



4.10 In view of their findings the WAO made a proposal for improvement in the Annual 
Report 2015/2016 that required addressing by the Council. The proposal for 
improvement was: 

 
 “The Council strengthens its arrangements for responding to external regulatory 

reports by: 

 Clarifying its process for dealing with reports that are received; and 

 Clarifying the role of committees when receiving reports, and ensuring there is 
appropriate challenge and clear monitoring of the Council’s progress in 
addressing any recommendations.” 

 
4.11 In response to the proposal for improvement a procedure was drafted by the Internal 

Audit Service. The procedure was written on the basis of a corporate responsibility 
that the Council will need to address on a corporate wide basis and as such a draft 
version was reported to Corporate Management Team in December 2016 for their 
comments and approval. 

 
4.12 Comments received from Corporate Management Team were incorporated into a 

revised procedure that was reported to Audit Committee on the 09th January 2017. A 
copy of this report and the respective procedure is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The revised corporate procedure has been in operation since 2017. This now 

includes managers in receipt of external agency report recommendations reporting 
to Corporate Management Team and the Audit Committee. To date the focus has 
pre-dominantly been on reports produced by WAO. 

 
5.2 Implementation of the revised corporate procedure further highlighted weaknesses 

with the existing AAP system that had already been identified. A new modernised 
AAP system was commissioned to be produced by Internal Audit with the Council’s 
ICT Department. This new system is currently in the roll-out stage throughout the 
Council. Feedback from the pilot departments has been very positive. 

 
5.3 A retrospective exercise was undertaken by Internal Audit to identify historical 

reports from external agencies going back to 2014/2015 to enable a comprehensive 
information base to be created of report recommendations that required to be 
reported under the revised procedure. 

 
5.4 To date progress on recommendations has been made on a regular periodic basis to 

Corporate Management Team and Audit Committee on WAO reports and this has 
proven to be effective in generating improvement. Next steps need to include the 
reporting of other agency reports. Appendix 2 contains a summary of reports to date 
and the details of those reports for financial years 2018/2019 back to 2014/2015. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The reporting of all agency reports on a regular periodic basis as per the revised 

procedure. To date the focus had been on WAO reports to assess how the system 
was operating. 

 

Page 7



6.2 Establishing the procedure as an embedded process across all relevant departments 
that does not require the current level of prompting or ‘chase up’ from a central 
department. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 To date the Internal Audit Service has voluntarily adopted the responsibility for 

creating, introducing, monitoring, prompting and reporting upon departmental and 
corporate progress. The time involved in this process treated as an ‘overhead’ by 
Internal Audit as it took time away from their primary role of providing assurance, 
however it was felt it was a worthwhile exercise as it ultimately improved and 
strengthened the governance framework of the Council.  

 
7.2 From the 01st April 2019 the Internal Audit Service is no longer employed by MTCBC 

directly as all staff members have transferred to the new Regional Internal Audit 
Shared Service established in collaboration with Rhondda Cynon Taf CC, Bridgend 
CC and the Vale of Glamorgan CC. Therefore the internal audit provision is now 
contracted in by MTCBC. The monitoring of the AAP system does not form part of 
this contract, however until an alternative solution can be found it is planned that 
Internal Audit will continue to monitor the system in the short term. 

 
7.3 A decision needs to be made by MTCBC as to how the AAP system will be 

monitored on a longer term basis including the reporting of other agency reports and 
recommendations. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 Improvements in the MTCBC’s governance framework will positively contribute to all 
Wellbeing Objectives.  

 
 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER  
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Audit Committee report 
09th January 2017 

 
WAO Annual 

Improvement Report 
2015-2016 

 

09th January 2017 
 
 

2015-2016 

Members Library 
 
 

Internal Audit office 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 8



 
 

Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

External Regulatory Reports Reporting and 
Monitoring Procedures 
 
 

8.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Wales Audit Office reported upon the current corporate system for recording the 

recommendations made in all external and internal audit reports in their Annual 
Improvement Report 2015-2016. 

 
1.2 This contained some criticism of the current arrangements in responding to external 

regulatory reports and made a Proposal for Improvement that the Council needs to 
respond to. 

 
1.3 In response to this Proposal for Improvement amendments to the existing 

arrangements have been documented in a procedure that it is planned to be 
implemented corporate wide. This procedure was reported to Corporate 
Management Team in December 2016 for consultation. 

 

9.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 Audit Committee Members note the content of the revised procedure (attached as 

Appendix A to this report). 
 

10.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 During 2015-16 the Wales Audit office conducted a review of the Council’s Service 

Improvement Framework to evaluate how established it had become since their 

Date Written 03rd January 2017 

Report Author G Evans 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 09th January 2017 

Appendix 1 

Page 9



earlier Corporate Assessment in 2014-15 and to assess the impact it was having in 
helping the Council to achieve its aims. 

 
3.2 They published their findings in their Annual Improvement Report 2015-2016. 
 
3.3 Their published findings reported that the Council has a corporate mechanism in 

place for recording the recommendations made in all external and internal audit 
reports, the Audit and Inspection Action Plan system (AAP system). They also made 
some criticism of the current arrangements in responding to external regulatory 
reports and reported that the Council was already aware of these and working on 
introducing improvements. 

 
3.4 In view of their findings the Wales Audit Office made a Proposal for Improvement in 

the Annual Improvement Report 2015-2016 that needs to be addressed by the 
Council. The Proposal for Improvement is: 

 
 The Council strengthens its arrangements for responding to external regulatory 

reports by: 

 Clarifying its process for dealing with reports that are received; and 

 Clarifying the role of committees when receiving reports, and ensuring there is 
appropriate challenge and clear monitoring of the Council’s progress is 
addressing any recommendations. 

 
3.5 In response to the Proposal for Improvement a procedure has been drafted by 

Internal Audit. The procedure is a corporate responsibility that the Council will need 
to address on a corporate wide basis and as such a draft version was reported to 
Corporate Management Team in December 2016 for their comments and approval. 

 
3.6 Further to the comments received from Corporate Management Team a revised 

procedure has been produced for reporting to Audit Committee for Members 
comments and suggestions before it will be progressed to implementation. The 
revised procedure is attached as Appendix A. 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
4.1 There are none specifically identified in this report.  
 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Audit Universe 
 
 

Audit Planning Files 
 

2015/2016 and 
2016/2017 

 
2016/2017 

Internal Audit Office 
 
 

Internal Audit Office 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

Page 10



APPENDIX A 

 

EXTERNAL REGULATORY REPORTS - REPORTING AND MONITORING PROCEDURES  

Receipt and Distribution of Reports 

•  External regulatory reports are normally received by the Chief Executive and 

forwarded to the relevant Chief Officer or Head of Service. E.g. Estyn reports 

referred to the Chief Education Officer, CSSIW reports to the Chief Officer 

Social Services and WAO reports to the Head of Corporate Services and 

different Commissioner reports to relevant officers. Internal Audit need to be 

copied into the distribution email.  Any report received directly by Chief 

Officers/Heads of Service need to be forwarded to the Chief Executive and 

Internal Audit for information. 

•  All external reports received are reported to Corporate Management Team 

by the relevant Chief Officer/Head of Service (as per the distribution 

arrangements) 

•  Internal Audit will enter the report recommendations onto the Audit and 

Inspection Action Plan (AAP) system. (ICT are in the process of developing a 

new system to facilitate reporting and monitoring). 

•  Internal Audit will send an email to the responsible officer notifying them that 

the recommendations have been entered onto the AAP system.  The email 

contains a link to the location of the recommendations on the AAP system. 

•  The Audit Manager (responsible officer) is copied in so that arrangements 

can be made for the report to be included on the forward plan for audit 

committee. This does not prevent reports being presented to Cabinet, 

Council or Scrutiny Committee either before or after the report is taken to 

Audit Committee. 

It is proposed that Audit Committee’s role is clarified to: 

 Ensure that appropriate action has been taken to address the 

recommendation and if not why not. 

 Consider if the report needs to be referred to another Committee. 

 Determine if a further follow up report on progress is required by Audit 

Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



Monitoring and Reporting Progress of Implementation of Recommendations  

 Recommendations made in external regulatory reports will be placed on the 

AAP system by Internal Audit. Chief Officers/Heads of Service will be notified 

when this has been done and will be required to update the AAP system with 

progress made in implementing the recommendations.  

 

 Periodically (timeframe to be determined but likely to be quarterly) Internal 

Audit will report the progress by management on the implementation of 

agreed recommendations contained within the AAP system to Audit 

Committee. This report will highlight those areas where progress on 

implementation is not being achieved as agreed and allow Members to 

decide who to invite to Audit Committee to report on the level of progress 

achieved etc. 

 

•  Depending on the nature of the report and the recommendations made, 

Audit Committee may recommend that an update also be reported to the 

relevant Scrutiny Committee.  

 Internal Audit will explore a mechanism to ensure that all regulatory reports 

are identified and recorded on the AAP system. 

 

(Proposals in italics below are subject to the new system being developed 

with this functionality.) 

•  Chief Officers / Heads of Service will receive notifications from the AAP 

system when recommendations, which should have been implemented as 

per the due date, have not been implemented.   

•  Various reports will be available from the AAP system which to be used by 

Corporate Management Team, Senior Officers and Councillors to identify 

and monitor progress in implementing recommendations made within their 

service area.  (Training / guidance will be provided upon introduction of the 

new AAP system).  

 On an annual basis, Internal Audit will provide Audit Committee with an 

update on progress that has been made in implementing recommendations 

made in all external regulatory reports. 

 

 

Page 12



               

 

Appendix 2 

P
age 13



2018-2019 

  

P
age 14



2017-2018 

 

  

P
age 15



2016-2017 

  

P
age 16



2015-2016 

  

P
age 17



2014-2015 

 

P
age 18



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Working Life / Bywyd Gwaith  
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, and how we 

intend to achieve these objectives is set out in our plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community’.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing theme Working Life. 

 
1.2 The Council is committed to supporting people to live in safe well-connected communities 

where the developing infrastructure sustains and improves both the built and natural 
environment; and where heritage, language and culture are valued and strengthened for 
future generations.  The Council also seeks to support people to develop skills and gain 
relevant qualifications to secure employment and to meet the changing needs of employers. 

 
1.3 Due the period of the report, and via collaboration with a range of partners and joint 

working, we focused on impacting on key outcomes to help achieve our wellbeing objective: 
 
   Making skills work for Merthyr: developing the workforce for the future;  

   Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish; 

   Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets; 

   Developing safer communities; and 

   Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market 

 
1.4 Using the most recent performance information, this report establishes the current position 

for the wellbeing objective: People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the  
           needs of businesses, with a developing and safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an 

attractive destination.    
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1  The content of this report to be discussed and performance information scrutinised  
 

2.2  Scrutiny Committee Members offer any appropriate feedback to enable officers to consider  
               when undertaking future service planning and delivery discussions. 
 

Date Written 25th March 2019 

Report Author Alyn Owen 

Service Area Community Regeneration, Public 
Protection and Housing 

Committee Date 9th April 2019 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

Legislative Context 

3.1  The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to     

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by maximising 

our contribution to the seven Wellbeing Goals.   

 

 A prosperous Wales 

 A resilient Wales 

 A healthier Wales 

 A more equal Wales 

 A Wales of cohesive communities 

 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

 A globally responsible Wales 
 

3.2  We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which means 
that we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There are five ways 
of working that we need to do adopt in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five ways of working are: 

 

 Long Term 

 Preventative 

 Involvement 

 Collaboration 

 Integrated 

 3.3 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support and 
for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters to the 
person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those things, which 
is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the professional(s). 

 
           Strategic Context and Service Delivery  
 
          The Council is committed to delivering excellent services. It will do this by delivering its key 

strategies and through joint working with a range of partners. The key strategies that focus 
on delivering excellent services in Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing 
are: 

 Economic Growth Strategy (pending final approval); 

 Tackling Poverty Strategy (pending approval); 

 Destination Management Plan (currently being refocused); 

 Heritage Strategy (draft – currently under development); 

 Active Merthyr Plan; 

 The Active Travel Plan; 

 MTCBC Homelessness Strategy; 

 Cwm Taf Community Safety Plan;  

 Workforce Development Plan; and 

 The Local Development Plan 2016-2023. 
 
A number of further strategic documents and plans are under development over the coming 
months; these include: 
 Page 20

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents


 The Town Centre Master Plan; 

 The Hoover Site Plan; 

 The Crucible Master Plan; and 

 The Social Enterprise Strategy. 
 
The department works collaboratively with other departments both within the Council, with 
external partners via the Public Service Board (PSB) and the Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB); with other local authorities on regional projects such as Cardiff and the Capital City 
Deal; as well as with multiple partner organisations across both the third and private 
sectors. 

 
3.4 The Council’s contribution to achieving the seven wellbeing goals is outlined in our plan     

[Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community].  On the 4th April 2018, Full Council 

approved a revised version of the Plan, which reduced the number of wellbeing objectives 

from 9 to 4. The new objectives can be found in Appendix 1. 

3.5  The Chief Officer for Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing reports on 

the wellbeing theme Working Life.  The purpose of this report is to coordinate the 

performance information for this wellbeing objective and offer insights in the change of 

working practice linked to the wellbeing objective: People feel supported to develop the 

skills required to meet the needs of businesses; with a developing, safe infrastructure 

making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination.   

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  At the end of 2017/18 the Council published its Annual Performance Report, which 

evaluated performance across all 9 wellbeing objectives at the end of year 1 of the 
corporate wellbeing plan Focus on the Future. 
 

4.2  The Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing team has the lead for 
Working Life, which had two wellbeing objectives during this period; these were: 
 
WL1: Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future; and  
WL2:  Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish. 
 

4.3  Our evaluation of performance in 2017 was Adequate.  The rationale for this judgment 
reflected the positive outcomes were achieved (e.g.) both employment levels and business 
births were above the Welsh average, whilst progress continues to link targeted 
employment opportunities for economically inactive residents, further developing the local 
workforce.  Additionally, the proportion of young people who are categorised as NEET (not 
in education, employment or training) was been sustained as for 2017/18; Merthyr Tydfil 
had the joint lowest level of NEETs in Wales.   
 

4.4  There were issues identified where improvement needed to be made (e.g.) the gross 
weekly pay for full-time workers in Merthyr Tydfil remains below the Welsh average; the 
direct impact the Council has had on the overall post-16 education qualifications was limited 
because of the numbers of people we engage with etc.  Plans are being developed to make 
improvements where required.  Other affecting factors beyond the Council’s control which 
would impact on progress being made were also considered (e.g.) governmental changes, 
the impact of Brexit etc.   
 

Page 21

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf


4.5 The Annual Performance Report provided an overview of the key performance indicators 
prior to the development of the Working Life SOAP: this data can be found in the table 
below along with the reported data from the previous year to provide some context: 
 
Table 1 
 

Key Performance Indicators 2016/17 2017/18  

% of working age population in employment  (Year ending Mar 
2018) 

69% 74%  

% of working age population who are qualified to NVQ level 2 
and above 

68.2% 66.2%  

% of population with no qualification  
 

15.5% 16.4%  

% of 16-18 year olds not in education, employment or training 1.0% 1.0%  

Number of business births 
 

230 255  

Number of business deaths 
 

150 165  

% of participants in employment upon leaving the EU funded 
programmes  

N/A 12.8%  
(70/549) 

- 

% of participants who gain a qualification on completion of an  
‘out of work’ training programme  

N/A 28.4%  
(156/549) 

- 

% of participants who gain a qualification on completion of an 
‘in work’ training programme 

N/A 81.9%  
(281/343) 

- 

    

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Following a review of year 1 of Focus on the Future, the 9 wellbeing objectives were 

reduced to 4.  The re-focused themes and objective can be found in Appendix 1.  As a 
result of this change, the Working Life theme now has one objective:  People feel supported 
to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a developing, safe 
infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 
 

5.2 To explore opportunities and challenges linked to the widening of the objective, the Chief 
Officer for Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing created a ‘Working Life 
Working Group’.  This group is made up of officers across a number of service areas across 
the Council both within the Chief Officers directorate and officers from other services areas.  
This group also provides a platform for planning discussions, officer led constructive 
challenge around activities delivered, targets set whilst also opening the doorway to 
exploring new opportunities, joint working relationships and making more meaningful 
service connections and evidence shows this change in working practice is already proving 
to be a catalyst for new joint working opportunities being developed. 
 

5.3 This working group developed a Working Life Strategy on a Page (SOAP) which organises 
performance information and sets targets for the year.  The SOAP contains performance 
data for the selected local performance indicators over time (where available) to offer an 
opportunity to identify trends.  The Working Life SOAP is attached as Appendix 2. 
 

5.4 To complement the “Working Life Working Group”, which focuses on departmental 
operational issues, there has been a significant change to the membership and reporting 
structure of the Strategic Economic Regeneration and Tourism Board.  This existing Board 
has now evolved into the Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board 
which focuses on strategic developments and encourages and promotes linkages between 
departments.  

 Page 22



5.5 On the 28th November 2018 the Welsh Audit Office initiated a workshop where together with 
our strategic Economic Growth Partnership we were required to offer evidence of the 5 
ways of working. The exercise was an opportunity to showcase the maturity of the 
partnership and specifically the role of MTCBC in its direct co-ordination of learning / 
training / employment for local people.   The Council are currently awaiting the final report 
on this. 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 By 2022, our ambition is for: 

 

 MTCBC and its partners to improve the economic fortunes of the area and increase the 
pace of the economic recovery, recognising that this cannot be achieved without the 
support and participation of key partners and businesses  

 To develop Merthyr’s extended landscape and built heritage into an international quality 
visitor destination and experience.  

 To develop the Hoover Site into a Strategic Regeneration Area for population growth, 
economic development, transport and infrastructure.  

 To develop the Town Centre as a Strategic Hub as part of the Cardiff City Region Metro 
focusing on transport infrastructure, physical regeneration and place-making.  

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1  Further develop the Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board 

ensuring departmental connectivity is at the forefront of its development  
 

7.2 Conclude the staged development of the strategic documents and plans over the coming 
months including the Town Centre Masterplan and the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan.  

 
7.3 Further develop the Economic Growth Partnership ensuring partnership ownership and 

engagement.   

8 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
8.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: 
 

 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped 
with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

8.2 The planned next steps for Focus on the Future and Tackling Poverty will ensure that the 
activities of the Learning Department will more robustly impact on the wellbeing objective: 

 

 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped 
with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

Living Well: People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER FOR COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION, PUBLIC PROTECTION 
& HOUSING 

 
 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION  

 
 Page 23



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

   

   

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
  

Page 24



Appendix 1 
 
 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan Focus on the Future:  

Confirmed themes and wellbeing objectives for 2018/19 
 
 
 

Theme Wellbeing Objective 

Best Start 
Children and young people have the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners 
and confident individuals. 

Working Life 
People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet 
the needs of businesses, with a developing safe 
infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination 

Environmental 
Wellbeing 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment 
and countryside 

Living Well 
People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical 
and mental health. 

Page 25



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

    Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Target Target 

Participants who are in employment after leaving a programme 
    

81 100 241 131 TBC TBC TBC 

Participants who gain a qualification at the end of an ‘out of work’ programme 
    

119 119 212 130 TBC TBC TBC 

Participants who gain a qualification at the end of an ‘in work’ programme 
    

185 281 184 213 TBC TBC TBC 

Number of buildings developed as part of the business start-up project 
    

3 Pending 4 4 3 4 4 

Percentage of inward investment enquiries which become active businesses 
    

5 Pending 5 8 5 5 5 

Number of social enterprises where growth/development opportunities are identified 
    

50% 66% 50% 57% 50% 50% 50% 

Number of visits to the 5 key attractions within Merthyr Tydfil 
      

618,000 661,532 636,540 655,636 675,305 

Restore 9 buildings within the Pontmorlais Heritage Area 
      

3 0 3 3 N/A 

Number of community enterprises supported in asset transfer opportunities 
    

2 3 2 2 3 3 3 

Percentage of people feeling safe (at home, walking in their local area, and travelling) (data 
provided by South Wales Police)   

N/A 63% N/A Pending N/A 
Year 
End 

N/A N/A N/A 

Percentage of incidents of drug litter reported that are cleared within 24 hours (Monday-Friday) 
      

100% 100%  100% 100% 100% 

Percentage of licensed premises spot checks where the management of risk to meet the 
licensing objectives is found to be broadly compliant     

N/A 83% 85% 57% 87% 89% 91% 

Percentage of taxi licensing compliance spot checks that are passed 
    

N/A 73% 75% 43% 77% 79% 81% 

The percentage of those who present as homeless who are relieved of their 
homelessness N/A 

3.6% 
(8/225) 

N/A 
S73 – 
178 
S75 – 5* 

N/A 33% 34% 29% TBC
2
 TBC

2
 TBC

2
 

Percentage of households threatened with homelessness successfully prevented from 
becoming homeless  (PAM/012) 

N/A 31.5% N/A 61% 60% 53% 60% 61% 61% 62% 63% 

Percentage of empty private sector properties brought back into use during the year through 
direct action by the local authority (PAM/013) N/A 6.47% N/A 

6.86% 
(40/583) 

N/A 6.6% 3% Year End 6% 6% 6% 

The percentage of food businesses that are broadly compliant with food hygiene 
N/A 93.38% N/A 93.49% N/A 92.46% 93.11% Year End 93.02% 92.86% 92.96% 

 Working LifeCHIEF OFFICER:  COMMUNITY REGENERATION 
Contributions From: 
Employability  Business Support/Development 
Physical Regeneration  Destination Development 
Heritage & Culture  Trading Standards 
Licensing   Transport 
Housing   Environmental Health 
EU & External Funding  

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses with a developing, safe infrastructure 

making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination 

How will Merthyr Tydfil CBC work? 

Making skills work for 
Merthyr Tydfil: developing 

the workforce of the 
future 

Developing the 
environment and 
infrastructure for 

business to flourish 

Communities protect, 
enhance and promote  

our heritage and 
cultural assets 

Developing safer 
communities 

Supporting and accommodating 
those most disadvantaged in the 
housing market, maximising the 
provision of affordable homes 

Appendix 2 

P
age 26



 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Prior to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the Council produced 

a Corporate Plan that was aligned to the regional Single Integrated Plan (SIP).  The 
Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 changed this to focus on the 
Wales We Want which is emphasised in seven Wellbeing Goals have been passed 
by Welsh Government. 

 
1.2 Together with this Act stated the ways in which we should work to achieve the goals.  

These are known as the five ways of working, i.e. long term; preventative; 
involvement; integration and collaboration. 

 
1.3 To embed this change, MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document.  

This makes the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the 
local objectives and political priorities.   

 
1.4 In the first year of implementing the Act (i.e. 2017/18) we monitored progress and 

recorded the lesson we have learned.  This led to streamlining and refocusing 
governance arrangements before entering into the second year of implementation.  
The new governance arrangements have been monitored.  As a result of this, 
strategies and priority projects are being reviewed.  This will aid the corporate self-
evaluation process (Reflecting on Performance) that is to be launched in 2019/20.   

 
1.5 As in years one and two, and required by the Act, MTCBC has to fulfil its statutory 

duty and publish a Statement of Wellbeing and the Focus on the Future: wellbeing in 
our community Plan.  The Statement of Wellbeing sets out our local Wellbeing 

Date Written 25/03/2019 

Report Author Andrew Mogford / Anne Powell 

Service Area Corporate Services 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 09/04/2019 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



Objectives for the community over a five year period, 2017 to 2022; in other words 
this is why we are doing what we set out.  The Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our 
community Plan goes into the detail of how and what we will do to achieve the 
Wellbeing Objectives.   

 
1.6 To meet our statutory duty we will present the Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on 

the Future documents to Council for approval on the 17th of April 2019. 
 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Statement of Wellbeing document is scrutinised in terms of how the Council is 

meeting its requirements against the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015. 

 
2.2 The Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community document is scrutinised in 

terms of how the Council is meeting its requirements against the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

3.1 Prior to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the Council produced 
a Corporate Plan that was aligned to the Single Integrated Plan (SIP).  However, 
each Council, and indeed areas across Wales, were not necessarily working towards 
a common goal.  The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 changed 
this.  Seven Wellbeing Goals for Wales have been passed for the ‘Wales We Want’.  
These are: A prosperous Wales; A resilient Wales; A healthier Wales; A more equal 
Wales; A Wales of cohesive communities; A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language; A globally responsible Wales. 

3.2 Together with this, the Act stated the ways in which we should work to achieve the 
goals.  These are known as the five ways of working, i.e. long term; preventative; 
involvement; integration and collaboration.  The Act also sets out the four pillars of 
wellbeing, namely: cultural, economic, environmental and social wellbeing of the 
people who live and work in the County Borough.  The five ways of working and four 
pillars should be used when appraising options for change and in any work and/or 
projects going forward.  They should also be used to challenge what is being done 
within service areas and offer the challenge around doing different things. 

3.3 The Act requires each Public Services Board (PSB) and public bodies to work with 
communities to develop local objectives.  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
(MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted on this.   

3.4 Approximately 24 months ago MTCBC released a Statement of Wellbeing and the 
Focus on the Future – Wellbeing in our Community 2017–2022 document.  This was 
done following a substantial involvement and engagement exercise with the 
community.  This was also done in view of the wider Cwm Taf area through the PSB.  
These documents and this approach replaces the Corporate Plan and SIP that was 
in existence prior to implementing the Act. 

3.5 To embed this change, MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document 
(Appendix I). This makes the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals 

Page 30



through to the local and regional objectives and political priorities.  This document is 
contained within one page and acts as an easy to understand guide.  When 
considered with service area strategies and operational plans, a thread is created 
that can be extended down to individual tasks.  This is set out in Appendix 2, where 
there is a clear line of sight through a ‘golden thread’ from our shared vision down to 
individual goals.  This helps staff members see how they are contributing to MTCBC, 
the Act and in delivering the ‘Wales We Want’.  

 
4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  As alluded to above, the wellbeing objectives for Merthyr Tydfil were developed 

following involvement and engagement with the community.  Elected members will 
recall that in last year’s publication of the Focus on the Future – Wellbeing in our 
Communities 2017-2022, we refocused and streamlined nine objectives to four.  
These are: 

 

 Best Start to Life Objective:  Children and young people get the best start to 
  life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and 
  confident individuals 
 

 Working Life Objective: People feel supported to develop the skills required to 
  meet the needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making 
  Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination 
 

 Environmental Wellbeing Objective: Communities protect, enhance and  
  promote our environment and countryside 
 

 Living Well Objective: People are empowered to live independently within  

  their communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental 

  health 

 

4.2 Elected Members will also recall that streamlined governance arrangements have 

also been implemented; with projects relating to each objective being monitored 

through the Council’s officer-led Change and Well-being Steering Group and the 

Overview and Governance Scrutiny Committee receiving reports on each objective.   

 

4.3 The new governance arrangements have been monitored.  As a result of this, 

strategies and priority projects are being reviewed.  This will aid the corporate self-

evaluation process (Reflecting on Performance) that is to be re-launched in 2019/20. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Following analysis of the lessons learnt document (year one) together with 

experiences over the last year, we have streamlined process to become more 

outcome focused.  This has meant we have focused on capturing qualitative and 

quantitative examples of change (case studies). 

 

5.2 Our four well-being objectives are monitored through scrutiny, with the Overview and 

Governance Scrutiny Committee receiving reports on each well-being 

Page 31



theme/objective to strengthen links (awareness in particular in the early stages of 

change) between strategies. 

 

5.3 An operational toolkit is being developed.  This links and explains our shared vision, 

well-being objectives, strategies on a page, operational plans and down to individual 

appraisals (called Focus on My Performance).  This sets out the Council’s ‘golden 

thread’.  This will form the basis on the Council’s enhanced approach to continued 

self-evaluation (called Reflecting on Performance). 

 

5.4 As in years one and two, and required by the Act, MTCBC has to fulfil its statutory 

duty and publish a Statement of Wellbeing and the Focus on the Future Plan.  The 

Statement of Wellbeing sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community 

over a five year period (2017 to 2022); in other words this is why we are doing what 

we set out.  The Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community Plan goes into the 

detail of how and what we will do to achieve the wellbeing objectives.  Appendix 3 is 

the Statement of Wellbeing and Appendix 4 is the Focus on the Future document. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 If approved by Council, the ‘Statement of Wellbeing’ and ‘Focus on the Future: 

wellbeing in our community’ documents will be published in both Welsh and English 

and submitted to our regulators, this includes the Wales Audit Office and the Future 

Generations Commissioners Office.   

 

6.2 The ‘Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community’ document will form the basis 

for service delivery and enable prioritisation.  Appropriate internal governance 

arrangements will continue.   

 

6.3 The Council’s enhanced self-evaluation approach (called Reflecting on Performance) 

will be implemented.   

 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Discuss and obtain the views of the Joint Scrutiny Committee regarding the 

Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our community 

documents. 

 

7.2 Present the Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on the Future: wellbeing in our 

community documents to Council for approval on the 17th of April 2019.  These 

documents will then be translated into Welsh before being published on the MTCBC 

website and sent to the regulators (Wales Audit Office) by the end of April 2018. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on the Future documents set out the 
Wellbeing Objectives.  

 

 

 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 
AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
(Version 1 – Year 1) 

2017/18 https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/
20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-

en.pdf 

Statement of Wellbeing 
(Version 2 – Year 2) 

2018/19 https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3773/
mtcbc-statement-of-wellbeing-april-

2018-en.pdf 

Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 

Community 
(Version 1 – Year 1) 

2017/18 https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/
20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-

2022-en.pdf 

 

Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 

Community 
(Version 2 – Year 2) 

2018/19 https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/medi
a/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-

2018.pdf 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council's 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 

Page 33

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3299/20170824-statement-of-wellbeing-v2-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3773/mtcbc-statement-of-wellbeing-april-2018-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3773/mtcbc-statement-of-wellbeing-april-2018-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3773/mtcbc-statement-of-wellbeing-april-2018-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3296/20170824-focus-on-the-future-2017-2022-en.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf


  
 

Appendix 1 

P
age 34



 

Appendix 2 

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

STA
TEM

EN
T O

F W
ELLB

EIN
G

 

  

2019/20 Version 3.0 

Page 37



  

 

Page 1 of 17 
 

1. Foreword 

1.1. On behalf of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council I am pleased to present our third year 

Statement of Wellbeing which sets out our local wellbeing objectives for the community 

from 2017 to 2022.  The objectives were developed as a result of more than a year’s work 

carried out.  This exercise included extensive consultation and engagement with 

communities and other stakeholders.   

1.2. Over the past two years the Council has changed how it works in order to better deliver 

these objectives.  In doing so we continue to capture key learning points and streamline 

our processes to become further focused on the outcomes that came from our stakeholder 

consultation and engagement.  As I stated last year our objectives have not changed but 

become more focused.  I remain confident that our wellbeing objectives lay the foundation 

for an effective Council Plan. 

1.3. Our wellbeing objectives seek to secure sustained improvements in the economic, social, 

cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil, 

now and in the future.  The focus remains being on supporting people when they need it 

most and equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives.  This will be done 

by changing our approach to focus on the five ways of working as stated in the Wellbeing 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  As such we will focus on moving away from 

being reactive and becoming preventative by thinking long term whilst involving, 

collaborating and integrating with communities (‘five ways of working’).   

1.4. Our wellbeing objectives have been prepared and are being delivered in a time of 

challenge and change.  Doing different things, working smarter, making better use of our 

assets has never been so important.  The Council intends to make effective use of the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to safeguard the wellbeing of Merthyr 

Tydfil now and for the future. 

1.5. The Act presents us with an opportunity to work differently when delivering our Council 

Plan.  We will do this by utilising the five ways of working and ensuring the seven 

wellbeing goals are always at the heart of what we do. 

 

Gareth Chapman 
Chief Executive   

Page 38



  

 

Page 2 of 17 
 

2. Introduction 
  

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

2.1. The Act is about improving the economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of 

Wales.  For the first time in law public bodies have a common purpose and a national 

shared vision. 

2.2. The Act puts in place seven wellbeing goals to ensure we are all working towards 

achieving the shared vision.  Each of the goals has a descriptor to build a common 

understanding (Appendix I). 

2.3. The Act places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the sustainable development 

principle when setting wellbeing objectives and in taking steps to meet those objectives.  

In the Act, the sustainable development principle1 is exemplified by the five ways of 

working (Appendix II). 

Wellbeing Statement 

2.4. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 

achievement of the seven wellbeing goals. 

2.5. The wellbeing statement clearly communicates the connections between each of our 

wellbeing objectives which will help secure an integrated and collaborative approach to 

achieving all seven wellbeing goals.  

2.6. In the long term our wellbeing objectives seek to ensure we secure improvements across 

all four pillars of wellbeing (economic, social, cultural and environmental) for the people 

who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil now and in the future. 

  

                                            
1
 The sustainable development principle sets out five ways of working to help us work together better, avoid 

 repeating past mistakes and tackle some of the long-term challenges we face. 

Page 39



  

 

Page 3 of 17 
 

The Sustainable Development Principle 

2.7. As a public body, we need to make sure that the way we work aligns to the sustainable 

development principle.  How we have applied the sustainable development principle when 

setting and reviewing our objectives has included: 

 

 

Involvement 

The involvement of people who visit, live and work in Merthyr Tydfil as 

we carried out our wellbeing assessment.  Local involvement was 

focused on understanding personal wellbeing and generating strength 

based intelligence by asking questions such as "What is good in your 

communities?" and "What would make your communities better?" 

 

Collaboration 

We collaborated with senior officers across the Council when analysing 

the assessment information and developing the wellbeing objectives.  

This is helping us to grow awareness and practical experience of the 5 

ways of working across services. 

 

Integration 

Integration of resources within the Council to maximise the collective 

skills, knowledge and understanding to help build wellbeing objectives 

that are commonly understood. 

 

Prevention 

Reducing the possibility of silo working by involving all services that 

can contribute to the achievement of a wellbeing objective has helped 

us work better together, ensured a focus on prevention, and decision 

making that is more integrated and collaborative. 

 

Long Term 

Using the population projections for the county borough has helped 

ensure a focus on the necessary conditions required in the long term to 

grow and retain the working age population. 

 

 

 

Page 40



  

 

Page 4 of 17 
 

Our Shared Vision 

2.8. The Cwm Taf Wellbeing Plan objectives were agreed by partners approximately two years 

ago.  At roughly the same time the Independent Administration set out priorities.  As such 

the Council revised its ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix III).  This is an ‘at a 

glance’ document connecting political, local and regional objectives in how the Council will 

adopt the five ways of working in delivering the objectives to meet the national wellbeing 

goals.   

2.9. All elements of the ‘Our Shared Vision’ document has been informed by engagement with 

communities and developed in collaboration with key stakeholder groups.   

2.10. Clear alignment can be seen between the three political priorities, the four Cwm Taf 

regional objectives and the four local wellbeing objectives, together with synergy in how 

these are being delivered.  In each element the five ways of working are at the heart of 

delivery; with focus on achieving the seven wellbeing goals.   

2.11. The ‘Our Shared Vision’ document is the start of a thread through the delivery of services 

across the Council (Appendix IV).  Our local objectives and outcomes are summarised 

into a strategy on a page (SOAP).  The five ways of working form the mechanism for 

service delivery and change.  The Council’s project and change management framework 

(including an updated integrated impact assessment) has been reviewed with the seven 

national goals, four local objectives and five ways of working being at the heart.   

2.12. This means that operational plans, team and individual objectives are also fundamentally 

driven by the seven national goals, four local objectives and five ways of working.  This 

can then be reflected in individual 1-2-1 meetings and appraisals held between staff 

members and their manager.  As such, each team member will be able to see how their 

role helps to deliver the four local objectives and indeed the seven national goals.  

Equally, or perhaps more importantly, ways of working are being reviewed and changed 

with the five ways of working from the Act being implemented.    

Page 41

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/


  

 

Page 5 of 17 
 

3. Wellbeing Objectives 

Wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil 

3.1. As part of our wellbeing duty under the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015, the Council published its refocused wellbeing objectives in April 2018 as set out in 

our Year 2 plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our community.  

3.2. An assessment of wellbeing was carried out to develop our understanding of how to 

positively impact wellbeing and to identify what matters to communities. The assessment 

was published in March 2017 and can be accessed on Our Cwm Taf2.  In addition, we 

worked with residents to establish a baseline understanding of subjective wellbeing in 

Merthyr Tydfil.  This knowledge helped shape the wellbeing objectives, understand 

potential responses to improve wellbeing.  

3.3. The Council has a duty to ensure its wellbeing objectives are designed to maximise its 

contribution to achieving each of the seven wellbeing goals.  In doing so, the Council must 

take all reasonable steps in exercising its functions to meet those objectives.   

3.4. As explained by the Chief Executive in last year’s Statement of Wellbeing, our local 

wellbeing objectives have been streamlined from nine to four.  This ensures a greater 

focus on delivery and improves accountability.  Organised by wellbeing theme, each 

wellbeing objective has clear outcomes that will help us to respond to local community 

needs and contribute to the seven national wellbeing goals. 

 Best Start to Life 

 Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they 
need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

 Working Life 

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with 

a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as an attractive 

destination. 

 Environmental Wellbeing 

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside. 
 

 Living Well 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are 
safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

                                            
2
 You can read the population wellbeing assessments and the well-being assessments on the Our Cwm Taf 

website. 

Page 42

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being


  

 

Page 6 of 17 
 

4. Best Start objective:  Children and young people get the best start to 

life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners 

and confident individuals 3 

The priority for this objective is to secure improvements in the educational outcomes for 

children and young people. 

4.1. Education is one of the clearest predictors of life outcomes, such as employment, income 

and social status, and is a predictor of attitudes and wellbeing.  The objective integrates 

the complete educational journey, from the early years through to compulsory years, and 

post-16.  The objective provides children and young people with the skills and attributes to 

help them improve their own lives. 

4.2. Improving early years support is crucial in tackling the root causes of adverse childhood 

experiences, which we know have a detrimental impact on future health and wellbeing.  

We define early years as pre-birth to 7 years old.  This broad definition recognises the 

importance of pregnancy in influencing outcomes and the transition into primary school as 

a critical period in children’s lives. 

4.3. Research evidence shows that there is value for schools to promote health and wellbeing 

among pupils.  Pupils with better health and wellbeing are more likely to be ready to learn 

and achieve better academically. 

4.4. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 

wellbeing needs of children young children.  While this approach is important for all 

children, it will particularly benefit children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of 

poor outcomes later in life.  The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment; 

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education; 

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people; and 

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing. 
 

4.5. The risk of poorer outcomes for children and families are strongly correlated to underlying 

factors, including poverty and low qualification levels of parents.  Wider stresses such as 

debt, substance misuse, poor housing and lack of employment also impact on the 

development of children and young people.  

4.6. The best start to life has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address 

these underlying factors, particularly: 

                                            
3
 This wellbeing objective recognises the right of all young children to high quality relationships, environments and 

 services and will contribute strongly to promoting and upholding children’s rights as defined by the UN 
 Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC). 

Page 43



  

 

Page 7 of 17 
 

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, 

with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are 

safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

4.7. To maximise our chances of achieving the best start to life will require an integrated 

response across all our wellbeing objectives by applying the five ways of working. 

 

Page 44



  

 

Page 8 of 17 
 

5. People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs 

of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr 

Tydfil an attractive destination  

The priority for this objective is developing the environment and infrastructure for business 

to flourish  

5.1. Research4 shows that people who report no educational qualifications are more likely to 

have relatively low income and that people who are not in employment with no 

qualification are more likely to be economically inactive.  There is also evidence to 

suggest that a well-managed urban environment and high quality local services are 

important to create conditions that are attractive to business investors, visitors and local 

residents.   

5.2. When local people talk about culture, it is often referred to as an opportunity for 

celebration. The refurbished Town Centre has become an asset for hosting cultural 

activities that bring people together such as the Merthyr Rising festival, the Awesome 

Annual Chilli Festival.  Making these social connections is directly correlated with 

improvements in physical and mental wellbeing and can help combat the growth in social 

isolation and loneliness.  Cultural events can also help bolster the prosperity of the County 

Borough by attracting visitors and tourists, providing employment and skills development 

opportunities. 

5.3. The key outcomes Working Life wants to achieve are: 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and better 

employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and enhancing 

our cultural assets for current and future generations; and 

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 

responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others. 

 

Following review of the outcomes as set down in Year 2 of the Plan, for Year 3 it was 

decided to refocus the outcomes to support the more integrated/collaborative approach 

being taken to meet these. 

 

5.4. The risk of poorer economic outcomes correlate with other underlying factors, including 

poverty and debt, substance misuse, poor housing and health-related stresses.  Many 

poverty researchers use a broader definition suggesting that “poor” means lacking not 

only material assets and health but also capabilities, such as social belonging, cultural 

identity, respect and dignity, and information and education.   

                                            
4
 JRF (2015) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 

Page 45

https://www.jrf.org.uk/mpse-2015


  

 

Page 9 of 17 
 

5.5. This objective has to work alongside our other wellbeing objectives which address these 

underlying factors, particularly: 

 Children get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they needs to be 

successful learners and confident individuals; 

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural and built environment and 

countryside; and 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are 

safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 

5.6. Achieving the outcomes identified within Working Life will require an integrated response 

across all our wellbeing objectives by applying the five ways of working. 

 

Page 46



  

 

Page 10 of 17 
 

6. Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and 

countryside5   

The priority for this objective is to improve the efficient use of materials and resources by 

means of the waste hierarchy and to produce the Council’s first Nature Recovery Plan. 

6.1. Research shows that a healthy natural environment and countryside provides multiple 

benefits for people and wildlife from improved air, water and land quality, habitat 

protection and enhanced biodiversity to beneficial implications for physical and mental 

health6,7. Therefore, the focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our 

communities to protect, enhance and promote the environment and countryside. 

6.2. How we act toward the environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a 

sustainable future in Merthyr Tydfil because the benefits of improving our environment will 

be felt across all of our wellbeing objectives.  We define the environment as countryside 

and all greenspace (natural environment) and urban locations (urban environment) within 

the Council boundary.  This broad definition of the environment recognises the importance 

of nature in both rural and urban environments. 

6.3. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 

environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 

broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 

resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 

is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 

are key environmental issues or risks.  The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing 

are: 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution; 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the waste 

hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and 

open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased. 

6.4. A degraded environment means our residents, communities and businesses will have a 

lower resilience to environmental risks.  As the environment is an underlying factor and 

influencer to many other wellbeing objectives, the risks presented by degraded 

environment also include a range of economic, social, health, community safety and 

cultural perspectives. 

                                            
5
 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 requires the Council to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity and 

 promote the resilience of ecosystems taking into account diversity between and within ecosystems; the 
 connections between and within ecosystems; the scale of ecosystems; the condition of ecosystems (including 
 their structure and functioning) and the adaptability of ecosystems. 
6
  Chief Medical Officer Annual Report 2014-15 

7
  Life Course, Greenspace and Health, 2016. 

Page 47

http://www.primarycareservices.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1150/CMO%20Report%202014-15.Eng.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4808994/


  

 

Page 11 of 17 
 

6.5. Communities protect, enhance and promote the environment and countryside has to work 

alongside our other wellbeing objectives to address these underlying factors, particularly: 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are 

safe and enjoy good physical and mental health; and  

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, 

with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

Page 48



  

 

Page 12 of 17 
 

7. People are empowered to live independently within their communities, 

where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health        

The priority of this objective is to ensure people are able to live independently and safely 

within their communities. 

7.1. People need support to live independently and well in their communities for longer. 

Research undertaken by the Office for Disability Issues suggests that independent living 

provides significantly more benefits at an individual level than conventional forms of 

service provision. There is also evidence to suggest that older people living locally wish to 

remain living in their homes as long as possible.    

7.2. The link between physical health and mental health is incontrovertible. Poor physical 

health can lead to poor mental health and vice versa. Conversely, good physical health 

can improve a person’s state of mind; a strong and healthy mind can greatly improve our 

ability to cope with physical ailments. There is a growing body of evidence that indicates 

nature provides added value to the known benefits of physical activity.  

7.3. Feeling safe influences how people value their community, and is important to people’s 

quality of life; often making the difference between people wanting to live and stay in their 

neighbourhood or not. There is evidence to suggest that building confidence and 

resilience in individuals and their communities is an important step towards improving 

wellbeing. 

7.4. The Living Well objective seeks to identify and provide effective early support to adults, 

children and their families who are at risk of poor outcomes.  By addressing potential 

issues early, longer term this will enable more people to live safe and independent lives 

within their communities; whilst enjoying good physical and mental health. 

7.5. An annual review during 2018/2019 highlighted the need to further refine and refresh the 

key outcomes.  This ensures that the outcomes clearly describe what the Living Well 

objective seeks to achieve 

7.6. The key long term outcomes for Living Well are: 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and have 

transitioned well into adulthood 

 

Following review of the outcomes as set down in Year 2 of the Plan, for Year 3 it was 

decided to refocus the outcomes to support the more integrated/collaborative approach 

being taken to meet these. 

 

 

Page 49



  

 

Page 13 of 17 
 

7.7. This objective has to work alongside all our other wellbeing objectives which address 

these underlying factors, particularly: 

 Children get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they needs to be 

successful learners and confident individuals; 

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, 

with a developing, safe infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination; 

and 

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our natural environment and 

countryside. 

Page 50



  

 

Page 14 of 17 
 

8. Appendix I: Seven Wellbeing Goals 

 

GOAL Description of the goal 

A prosperous Wales An innovative, productive and low carbon society which 
recognises the limits of the global environment and therefore 
uses resources efficiently and proportionately (including 
acting on climate change); and which develops a skilled and 
well-educated population in an economy which generates 
wealth and provides employment opportunities, allowing 
people to take advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work. 

A resilient Wales A nation which maintains and enhances a biodiverse natural 
environment with healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example climate change). 

A healthier Wales A society in which people’s physical and mental well-being is 
maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit 
future health are understood. 

A more equal Wales A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances (including their socio 
economic background and circumstances). 

A Wales of cohesive 
communities 

Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected communities. 

A Wales of vibrant culture 
and thriving Welsh language 

A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and 
the Welsh language, and which encourages people to 
participate in the arts, and sports and recreation. 

A globally responsible Wales A nation which, when doing anything to improve the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may 
make a positive contribution to global well-being. 

 

Page 51



  

 

Page 15 of 17 
 

9. Appendix II: The Five Ways of Working 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 puts in place a ‘sustainable development 

principle’  (the five ways of working) which tells organisations how to go about meeting their duty 

under the Act.  Any reference to a public body doing something “in accordance with the 

sustainable development principle" , means that the body must act in a manner which seeks to 

ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs. 

Public bodies need to make sure that when making their decisions they take into account the 

impact they could have on people living their lives in Wales in the future. 

There are five things that public bodies need to think about to show that they have applied the 

five ways of working.  Following these ways of working will help us work together better, avoid 

repeating past mistakes and tackle some of the long term challenges we are facing. 

 

 

Long term 
The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to safeguard the 
ability to also meet long-term needs. 

 

Prevention 
How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help public 
bodies meet their objectives. 

 

Integration 
Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may impact upon 
each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the objectives of 
other public bodies. 

 

Collaboration 
Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of the body 
itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being objectives. 

 

Involvement 
The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the wellbeing 
goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the area which 
the body serves. 

 

 

 

Page 52



  

 

Page 16 of 17 
 

10. Appendix III: Our Shared Vision   

 

  

  

P
age 53



  

 

Page 17 of 17 
 

11. Appendix IV: The Golden Thread 

 

P
age 54



 

 

 

   

   

 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 

Wellbeing in our Community 

2017 - 2022 

2019/20 Version 3.0 

 

Page 55



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   
 

Contents  

 

1. Doing Different Things ………………………………………………………………..... 1 

2. Investing in People's Wellbeing ……………………………………………………….. 2 

3. Glossary …………………………………………….………………………………….... 3 

4. Introduction ……………………………………………………………………………… 4 

5. Financing the Plan …………………………………………………………………....... 5 

6. Involving Our Communities …………………………………………………………… 6-8 

7. Wellbeing Objectives …………………………………………………………............. 9-12 

8. Contribution of our Wellbeing Objectives to the Wellbeing Goals ………………... 13 

9. Best Start Objective:  Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals ……………………………………………………………………….……… 14-15 

10. Working Life Objective: People feel supported to develop the skills required to 
meet the needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure making 
Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination ..………………………………….…….…… 16-17 

11. Environmental Wellbeing Objective: Communities protect, enhance and promote 
our environment and countryside ..…..……………….……………………………… 18-19 

12. Living Well Objective: People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health 
……….………………………………………………………………………….……...... 20-21 

13. Steps to help achieve the seven national wellbeing goals …………..………….. 22-27 

14. Get involved …………………………………………………………...……………….. 28 

Page 56



 

Page | 1  
 

1. Doing Different Things  

1.1. Welcome to our wellbeing plan "Focus on the Future: 

Wellbeing in our Community".  In our plan, we set out 

what we expect from our Councillors and what we 

expect from the Council to achieve our Wellbeing 

Objectives.  As stated last year this has been 

formulised into political priorities and integrates our 

local Wellbeing Objectives and the Cwm Taf 

Wellbeing Plan. 

1.2. As a Council, we continue to be committed to working 

closely with our communities to build resilience across 

the County Borough and bring people together.  As 

Leader, I want to use my role to continue to build 

connections between people and empower 

community action as a way to improve wellbeing. 

1.3. Like all public bodies, the Council is facing increasing 

pressures coupled with continued cuts in government 

funding.  How we respond to these challenges can be 

an opportunity to do different things.  Mobilising our 

assets within individuals and communities, to focus on 

what people value most, will be crucial in identifying 

opportunities to do different things. 

1.4. As Councillors, we will continue to lead community 

development by bringing people and communities 

together.  We will use our own knowledge, skills and 

experiences to promote opportunities for community 

involvement to achieve positive and long lasting 

changes. 

 

 

Councillor Kevin O'Neill 

Leader of the Council 

 

"I want our Councillors to 

be out there in our 

communities, working 

alongside our community 

members to make 

Merthyr Tydfil better." 

 

Page 57



 

Page | 2  
 

2. Investing in People's Wellbeing                 

2.1. On behalf of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, I am 

pleased to present our updated plan "Focus on the 

Future: Wellbeing in our Community".  This plan sets out 

what we will do in our communities to deliver our 

Wellbeing Objectives and how we will work to do this. 

2.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

requires public bodies to work better with each other and 

communities through involvement and by taking a 

collaborative approach.  This is increasingly important as 

we continue to experience budget reductions. 

2.3. We must ensure the decisions we take secure sustained 

improvements in the cultural, economic, environmental 

and social wellbeing of the people who live and work in 

the County Borough today and in the future.  In order to 

achieve this, I will be working to ensure the Council works 

differently by applying the five ways of working set out in 

the Act. 

2.4. The Leader of the Council has outlined the role local 

Councillors play as community ambassadors.  They will 

help empower local people to transform their community 

and address the issues they face through community 

actions. 

2.5. As I have stated previously, Council Officers have worked 

with residents to help develop a baseline understanding of 

wellbeing in the County Borough.  This has helped shape 

the Wellbeing Objectives in our plan.  It has enabled us to 

better understand how to improve wellbeing in our 

communities. 

 

 

    

 

Gareth Chapman 

Chief Executive 

 

"Help me to help you, in 

ensuring the Council and 

its team of professional 

and motivated staff work 

with you, the communities 

of the County Borough, to 

deliver the Wellbeing 

Objectives set out in this 

plan." 

 

 

Page 58



 

Page | 3  
 

3. Glossary 

Five ways of working There are five things that public bodies need to think about to 

show that they can work together better, avoid repeating past 

mistakes and tackle some of the long-term challenges we are 

facing.  The five things are: 
 

1- Long-term The importance of balancing short-term need or demand whilst 

safeguarding the ability to meet long-term needs. 

2 - Prevention Preventing problems occurring or getting worse may help public 

bodies free up resources and meet their Wellbeing Objectives. 

3 - Integration Considering how a public body's Wellbeing Objectives may impact 

on each of the Wellbeing Goals, on their Wellbeing Objectives, or 

on the Wellbeing Objectives of other public bodies. 

4 - Collaboration Acting in collaboration with any other person or different 

organisations that could help the public body to meet its Wellbeing 

Objectives. 

5 - Involvement The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving 

the Wellbeing Goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 

diversity of the area which the public body serves. 

Wellbeing Objective The Wellbeing Objectives set out what we feel needs to happen 

locally to help improve wellbeing for the people of Merthyr Tydfil 

and achieve the national Wellbeing Goals. 

Wellbeing Goal The seven Wellbeing Goals show the kind of Wales we want to 

see.  Together they provide a shared vision for the public bodies in 

Wales to work towards. 

Medium Term  

Financial Plan 

A plan to balance the financial implications of objectives and 

policies against constraints in resources, which provides a financial 

basis for decision making, to ensure financial sustainability over 

the medium term (five years). 

Steps to achieving      

the 7 wellbeing goals 

The Council has a duty to take all reasonable steps on our journey 

to achieving the 7 Wellbeing Goals and our Wellbeing Objectives.  

Guidance from the Office of the Future Generations Commissioner 

describes these steps as ranging from simple changes that can be 

made quickly and easily to more ambitious and stretching actions, 

and ultimately to transformational actions that will lead the way to 

the ‘Wales We Want’ for future generations. 

Page 59



 

Page | 4  
 

4. Introduction 

4.1. Under the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, public bodies in Wales must 

work in a sustainable way to achieve the common vision to improve the economic, social, 

cultural and environmental wellbeing of Wales.  Therefore, we need to make sure that 

when we make decisions, we take into account the impact they could have on the people 

living their lives in Merthyr Tydfil now and in the future. 

4.2. The Act establishes the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales, whose role is to act 

as a guardian for the interests of future generations in Wales, and to support the public 

bodies listed in the Act to work towards achieving the Wellbeing Goals. 

 

Our Plan, Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community 

4.3. In our Statement of Wellbeing, we set out the scope of each Wellbeing Objective and 

outline why we consider that meeting the Wellbeing Objective will maximise our 

contribution to the achievement of the seven Wellbeing Goals. 

4.4. In our plan (Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community), we set out how we intend 

to achieve the Wellbeing Objectives.  This includes associated priorities, details of key 

plans and strategies, and how the plan will be financed.    

4.5. We review our plan annually (this being the third year and second review), to make certain 

that the key priorities, plans and strategies remain relevant and clearly aligned to our 

Wellbeing Objectives.  This documents the changes made as part of this review and the 

rationale for the changes.  In addition, we will also publish an Annual Performance Report, 

which will evaluate the progress we have 

made.   

4.6. Opposite is a simple diagram to visualise 

where our plan (Focus on the Future: 

Wellbeing in our Community) sits in relation to 

the regional work across Cwm Taf and within 

the Council. 

 

Page 60



 

Page | 5  
 

5. Financing the Plan 

5.1. The Council's Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) outlines the budget allocation for the 

current year and projects future budget requirements.  Our future MTFP is set out against 

our Wellbeing Objectives. 

5.2. In order to align the Council’s financial management to the Wellbeing Objectives, we will 

continue to develop the prioritisation of services ensuring scarce resources are allocated 

to priority services defined by wellbeing objectives 

5.3. The work to prioritise services will be reviewed on a continuous basis to ensure the 

Council will be well informed in providing affordable services.  This work will be completed 

in time for the announcement of the annual provisional Local Government Revenue and 

Capital Settlement. 

5.4. This will enable the Council to align future Revenue and Capital Settlements to our 

Wellbeing Objectives in the future publications of our MTFP, these will be available in 

March/April of each year. 

Page 61



 

Page | 6  
 

6. Involving Our Communities 

6.1. There are eleven Electoral Divisions in Merthyr Tydfil, represented by 33 Councillors.  Our 

Councillors play a significant leadership role as community ambassadors, helping provide 

community intelligence and helping empower local people to transform their community 

and address the issues they face. 

Merthyr Tydfil Electoral Divisions (Wards) – See map overleaf 

 Bedlinog 

 Cyfarthfa 

 Dowlais 

 Gurnos 

 Merthyr Vale 

 Park 

 Penydarren 

 Plymouth 

 Town 

 Treharris 

 Vaynor 

 

6.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires a more 'active' level of 

community involvement in order to achieve outcomes.  This means that we need to 

involve our communities in the planning and designing of services, and involve 

communities in the decisions that affect them. 

Developing Community Action 

6.3. We will continue to provide support to our Councillors so they can carry out action 

workshops in our local communities.  This aims to ensure communities are enabled to 

investigate and plan ways to address local issues they face and then support can be 

provided as appropriate. 

6.4. As reported previously, we continue to involve communities to meet their needs.  

Following trials, we are also continuing with Councillor and community led initiatives.  This 

has enhanced Councillor engagement (which appears in the Cabinets Work Programme) 

and involves communities.  There are a number of examples of this.   Litter picking and 

fly-tipping remain issues across the County Borough, with these being political priorities.  

As such there are several community groups, championed by Councillors that undertake 

regular voluntary litter picking sessions.  In promoting the Welsh Language, a community 

group has been recently set up and is supported by the ward Councillor.  This initiative 

provides the community the opportunity to speak Welsh and promote the Welsh language; 

going some way in addressing the national goal of ‘A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 

Page 62



 

Page | 7  
 

Welsh language’.  The Council’s Welsh Language Champion, Councillor Geraint Thomas 

says:  

“Club Dysgu Cymraeg Calfaria is enhancing the cultural experience of people of all ages 

attending our weekly get together.  Immersing themselves in the Welsh Language, talking 

freely in an informal setting is breathing new life into our wonderful mother tongue.  Cymru 

am byth!!”” 

 

This approach will be continued and widened.   

6.5. Please visit our ‘Contact Magazine’ web page, where you will find numerous examples of 

community group work that has taken place throughout the County Borough.    

Page 63

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/website-and-social-media/welcome-to-our-new-style-contact-publication/


 

Page | 8  
 

 

Page 64



 

Page | 9  
 

7. Wellbeing Objectives    

7.1. In order to set our Wellbeing Objectives we carried out a wellbeing assessment across 

Cwm Taf1.  This was carried out to inform the development of the Wellbeing Objectives as 

part of the Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community document, which was 

released in 2017, for the period of 2017 to 2022.  In addition, work was undertaken 

together with residents to establish a baseline understanding of wellbeing in Merthyr 

Tydfil.  During the first year of the plan we recorded the delivery and captured lessons 

learnt, especially relating to the governance of the plan.  This knowledge helped shape 

the Wellbeing Objectives and understand potential responses to improve wellbeing.  In 

brief, our Wellbeing Objectives2 cover four themes.  Learning the lessons from year one, 

where we engaged with scrutiny members, we streamlined the original nine objectives into 

four.  These provide focus of delivery under each theme.  However, it should be noted that 

all priorities following the original engagement remain.  The four themes and objectives 

remain unchanged for 2019 / 2020. 

Wellbeing Objectives: 
 

BS Best Start to Life 

BS  Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals 

  

WL Working Life 

WL People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an 
attractive destination 

  

EW Environmental Wellbeing 

EW  Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside 

  

LW Living Well 

LW  People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health 

 

 

 

                                            
1
 You can read the population wellbeing assessments and the well-being assessments on the Our Cwm Taf website. 

2
 You can read our Statement of Wellbeing on the Council website. 

Page 65

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/


 

Page | 10  
 

7.2. In this plan, we set out the steps that we will take to ensure that we maximise our 

contribution to the Wellbeing Objectives.  This plan will focus on what is being done to 

achieve the Wellbeing Objectives, including key priorities and associated plans and 

strategies. 

7.3. During 2017 / 2018 the regional objectives for Cwm Taf were developed.  This was done 

with engagement and involvement with communities across Cwm Taf and involved 

several organisations.  This has resulted in forming three regional objectives and these 

can be viewed in the ‘Our Shared Vision’ document overleaf.  Political priorities have also 

been formulated, being taken from the views expressed by communities of Merthyr Tydfil 

during the local election period. 

7.4. This has meant that our Chief Officers have worked with their teams and with each other 

to refocus their strategies to achieve their Wellbeing Objectives and be better informed 

when designing affordable services.  Each Wellbeing Objective is the focus, and key 

performance indicators will show how well we are delivering.  The five ways of working are 

the basis for doing different things (and doing things differently).  This creates an easy to 

understand strategy on a page (SOAP) for each Wellbeing Objective.  This will then form 

the basis of the self-evaluation process going forward; in other words a means to test if we 

are making a difference.  Please visit the ‘Statement of Wellbeing’ page on our website 

where you will find the latest Strategies on a Page.    

7.5. As with previous years, we are continuing to learn lessons and further strengthen delivery 

in line with our agreed outcomes.  An example of this being strategies and project 

delivery.  As part of strengthening our self-evaluation approach it became apparent that 

we have the opportunity to streamline strategies to better focus on delivering our well-

being objectives.  We therefore plan to explore refocusing our strategies to better deliver 

our objectives and help us to provide constructive self-evaluation.  This then leads on to 

projects.  By refocusing our strategies, we can identify priorities and align resources 

accordingly.  Resources can also be better aligned to cross-cutting projects and as such 

work to enhance delivery through the five ways of working.   

7.6. Again learning lessons from year 2 and completing a self-evaluation tool from the Future 

Generations Commissioners Office, we are seeking to strengthen the way in which we 

integrate strategies.  The tables in the sections below outline the service areas from 

across MTCBC that collaborate to deliver the Wellbeing Objectives.  In year three we will 

explore how the strategies can be better integrated and how internal and external partners 

can further collaborate to deliver our Wellbeing Objectives. 

7.7. In order to raise awareness, understanding and desire for change across the Council and 

wider we have developed a document called ‘Our Shared Vision’.  This connects the local 

Wellbeing Objectives outlined above with the Cwm Taf regional objectives and political 

priorities.  The document links this to the ‘Wales We Want’ and how we will achieve it (i.e. 

the five ways of working).  Each Wellbeing Objective has a strategy on a page sitting 

beneath them, as explained above.  This creates a clear thread from the ‘Wales We Want’ 

Page 66

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-well-being/


 

Page | 11  
 

all the way down to strategies and then operational plans and staff appraisals in delivering 

this.  This means that individual staff members can see how they are contributing and 

internal staff performance appraisal process has been reviewed to ensure connections to 

the Wellbeing Objectives and five ways of working are clearer. This forms part of the 

‘golden thread’ linking our vision, Wellbeing Objectives, team aims and personal goals. 

 

 

  

Page 67



 

Page | 12  
 

 

P
age 68



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 13  
 

8. Contribution of our Wellbeing Objectives to the Wellbeing Goals 

8.1. The seven Wellbeing Goals3 show the kind of Wales we want to see.  Together they 

provide a shared vision for the public bodies of Wales to work towards.  The chart below 

provides a brief summary of where our Wellbeing Objectives primarily align to the 

Wellbeing Goals. 

 

Wellbeing Goal 

A prosperous Wales 

A resilient Wales 

A healthier Wales 

A more equal Wales 

A Wales of cohesive communities 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 

A globally responsible Wales 

 

Wellbeing Objective Wellbeing Goals 

Best Start to Life        

Working Life        

Environmental Wellbeing        

Living Well        

 

                                            
3
 You can find out more information on the Act and Wellbeing Goals in this Guide. 

Page 69

http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf


 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 14  
 

9. Best Start Objective:  Children and young people get the best start to 

life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners 

and confident individuals 

The priority for this objective is to secure improvements in the educational outcomes of 

children and young people. 

 

Examples of contributors to this wellbeing objective 

Service Areas Other Contributors 
Raising Standards Community Wellbeing Sports Resources 
School Improvement Youth Services Team Around the Family 
Additional Learning Needs Inclusion and Wellbeing  
Early Years School Planning and Support 

Resources 
 

 

9.1. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 

wellbeing needs of children and young people.  While this approach is important for all 

children, it will particularly benefit children who face disadvantage or have a high risk of 

poor outcomes later in life.   

9.2. Education is one of the clearest predictors of life outcomes, such as employment, income 

and social status, and is a predictor of attitudes and wellbeing.  The objective integrates 

the complete educational journey, from the early years through to compulsory years, and 

post-16 and seeks to provide children and young people with the skills and attributes to 

help them improve their own lives. 

9.3. The key outcomes that Best Start to Life wants to achieve are: 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment; 

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education; 

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people; and 

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing. 
 

9.4. We will deliver these outcomes through refreshing our key strategy Raising Standards and 

by focusing  on addressing our key priorities for improvement: 

 Increase attainment levels in particular, mathematics and English at Key Stage 4  

 Tackling and reducing persistent absenteeism 

 Improving the quality of leadership in schools 

 Meeting the needs of our vulnerable learners 

 Improve pupil wellbeing  

Page 70



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 15  
 

 Enhancing the effective use of data to inform targeting of resources delivering better 
outcomes  

 

How will we know if things are getting better? 

9.5. Each objective uses a consistent performance management framework which is captured 

on a resource known as SOAP – strategy on a page. This document identifies the 

wellbeing objective, outcomes and key performance indicators and forms the basis of self-

evaluation and the departments Business Improvement Plans. 

We will know things are better when: 

 Outcomes and educational standards for learners and groups of learners improve; 

 Early language development of children improves; 

 The health and wellbeing of children and young people improves; 

 The resilience among families in receipt of support improves 

 

Would you like to know more? 
Visit the Council's website to learn more about: 
Schools and Learning 
Family Information 
Employability and Adult Learning 
Social Care for Children and Families 
 

 

Page 71

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/?lang=en-GB&
http://merthyrfis.org/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/adult-learning/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/social-services-and-well-being/children-families/childcare-search/


 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 16  
 

10. Working Life Objective: People feel supported to develop the skills 

required to meet the needs of businesses, with a developing, safe 

infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination    

The priority for this objective is developing the environment and infrastructure for business 

to flourish  

Examples of contributors to this wellbeing objective 

Service Areas Other Contributors 
Community Regeneration  Housing and Homelessness Estates 
Physical Regeneration Employability and Skills Planning 
Community Safety Transport Countryside 
Inward Investment Heritage and Cultural Assets  
Economic Development Environmental Health  
Licensing and Trading 
Standards 
 

  

 

10.1. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and collaborative approach to reducing social 

disadvantage by supporting the continued development of the local economy; sustaining 

and improving communities’ awareness of opportunities open to them whilst offering 

advice and support on how to access these.   

10.2.   “Evidence suggests personal wellbeing and material wellbeing are not separate: they are     

linked, with personal freedoms and fulfilment very much reflecting people’s resources”4.  

By developing a skilled and well-educated population in an economy, both wealth and 

employment opportunities are created, allowing people to take advantage of these by 

being supported to secure fair work.  The provision of enabling services such as improved, 

connected public transport will help this to be achieved. 

10.3. The key outcomes Working Life wants to achieve are: 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and better 

employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and enhancing 

our cultural assets for current and future generations; and 

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 

responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others. 
 

10.4. We will deliver these outcomes through activities in response to our key strategy, the 

Economic Growth Strategy, and by addressing our key priorities for improvement: 

                                            
4
 Bevan Foundation (2017) 

Page 72



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 17  
 

 Improve access and uptake of learning leading to an increase in the number of 

residents with qualifications; 

 Increase the number of local people gaining access to; securing and sustaining 

employment, improving the availability of labour supply to the local market; 

 Increase the proportion of new and surviving businesses including social enterprises; 

 Increase business sector productivity; 

 Support suitable tourism, leisure and recreational developments, making best use of 

our natural environment and heritage/cultural assets; 

 Increase opportunities for sustainable and renewable housing, and renewable energy 

developments;  

 Create sustainable communities with a strong sense of place which have increased 

economic potential; and 

 Improve public transport with sustainable modes of transportation. 
 

How will we know if things are getting better? 

10.5. By monitoring key performance indicators, we will know things are better when: 

 People in Merthyr Tydfil secure the skills to meet employers changing needs; 

 Our developing environment and infrastructure changes to meet identified need and 

will encourage inward investment and support business survival rates; 

 Our heritage and cultural assets will continue to be valued, protected, promoted and 

drive new economic activity; 

 People living, working and visiting Merthyr Tydfil will feel safe and included; and 

 Those most disadvantaged in the housing market will feel connected and supported 

 

Would you like to know more? 

Visit the Council's website to learn more about: 

Employability and Adult Learning 

Parking, Roads and Travel 

Planning and Building Control 

Childcare 

Family Information 

Rural Development 

Conservation 

Tourism 

Culture 

Welsh Language 

Community Safety 

Crime, Safety and Emergencies 

Page 73

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/schools-and-learning/adult-learning/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/parking-roads-and-travel/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-building-control/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/social-services-and-well-being/children-families/childcare-search/
http://merthyrfis.org/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/regeneration/rural-development/?lang=en-GB&
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/planning-building-control/conservation/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/business/tourism/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/leisure-parks-and-culture/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/equalities-and-welsh-language/welsh-language/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/crime-safety-and-emergencies/community-safety/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/crime-safety-and-emergencies/


 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 18  
 

11. Environmental Wellbeing Objective: Communities protect, enhance 

and promote our environment and countryside   

The priority for this objective is to improve the efficient use of materials and resources by 

means of the waste hierarchy and to produce the Council’s first Nature Recovery Plan.    

Examples of contributors to this wellbeing objective 

Service Areas Other Contributors 
Waste Services Street Cleansing  
Property Services Environmental Health Community Regeneration 
Highways and Engineering Estates  
Biodiversity Landscape Services  
Policy and Implementation Building Control  
Development Control 
(including conservation areas) 

  

 

11.1. This wellbeing objective offers a holistic and sustainable approach to meeting the 

environmental wellbeing needs in Merthyr Tydfil.  Those needs should be interpreted 

broadly to include quality greenspace and connectivity, habitat protection and biodiversity, 

resilient ecosystems, landscape character and pollution prevention.  While this approach 

is important for the environment as a whole, it will particularly benefit areas where there 

are key environmental issues or risks.  

11.2. The focus of this wellbeing objective is the work we do with our communities to protect, 

enhance and promote the environment and countryside.  How we act toward the 

environment and countryside will be a critical factor of a sustainable future in Merthyr 

Tydfil because the benefits of improving our environment will be felt across all of our 

wellbeing objectives.   

11.3. The key outcomes the Environmental Wellbeing wants to achieve are: 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution; 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the waste 

hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and 

open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

11.4. We will deliver these outcomes thorough the Waste Management Business Plan and 

Nature Recovery Plan and by focussing on addressing our key priorities for improvement:   

 Increase the amount of metals and paper being recycled in the County Borough in 

order to meet and exceed the recycling targets set by Welsh Government;  

 Improving the standard of cleanliness on our highways;  

Page 74



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 19  
 

 Reduce the levels of fly-tipping;  

 Produce and obtain Council approval of the Nature Recovery Plan;  

 

Other important strategic drivers that will help us deliver on this objective include the Local 

Development Plan, Nature Recovery Plan, Carbon Management Plan and the Corporate 

Asset Management Plan. 

How will we know if things are getting better? 

11.5. Each objective uses a consistent performance management framework which is captured 

on a resource known as a strategy on a page (SOAP).  This document identifies the 

wellbeing objectives, outcomes and key performance indicators, which forms the basis of 

self-evaluation. Work will also be undertaken to review and develop robust Business 

Improvement Plans.  

11.6. We will know things are better when: 

 The air quality on Twynyrodyn Road improves; 

 The local authority's CO2 emissions reduce by 3% from its buildings (per annum); 

 The time taken to clear reported fly-tipping incidents on Council land improves; 

 The cleanliness of our highways improve;  

 Our recycling rates improve; and 

 There is an increase of Priority Open Spaces (out of 23 Priority Open Spaces) that 

meet or exceed the quality standard: Healthy, Safe and Secure. 

 

 

Would you like to know more? 

Visit the Council's website to learn more about: 
 

Bins and Recycling 

Fly-tipping 

Air Pollution  

Open Spaces 

Page 75

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/bins-recycling/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/bins-recycling/fly-tipping/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/pests-pollution-and-food-hygiene/air-pollution/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/leisure-parks-and-culture/parks-and-open-spaces-outdoor-facilities/


 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 20  
 

12. Living Well Objective: People are empowered to live independently 

within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical 

and mental health    

The priority for this objective is to ensure people are able to live independently and safely 

within their communities. 

Examples of contributors to this wellbeing objective 

Service Areas Other Contributors 
Sustainable, Success and 
Transition 

Early Intervention and 
Prevention 

Education Services 

Safeguarding Edge of Care Community Regeneration 
Older People and Disability Community Mental Health  
Day Services Residential Care  
Supporting People Commissioning Services  
Initial Response and 
Reablement 

  

 

12.1. The Living Well objective is about building the capacity of individuals, families and 

communities to secure the best outcomes for themselves. It is about building resilience 

and providing the right level of support before problems materialise or escalate.  This will 

help to reduce the need to be involved in a crisis and enable more preventative work. 

12.2. Working closely with our partners to address the poor life experiences of children early on 

will help ensure more vulnerable families remain together; increasing the number of 

children who are able to live safely at home (or close to home) and preventing them from 

becoming looked after.  

12.3. Providing vulnerable older people with the right information and support at the right time 

will  enable them to have more control over their lives, help prevent  loneliness and 

isolation, and live safely within their own home.  Through  services such as ‘Initial 

Response and Reablement’ and ‘@Home Service’, older people will be supported to 

maintain their health and independence at home, avoiding unnecessary hospital 

admissions.  Where hospital admission is essential, individuals are supported to return 

home in a safe and timely manner. 

12.4. The outcomes that Living Well wants to achieve are: 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and have 

transitioned well into adulthood 

 

 

Page 76



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 21  
 

12.5. We will deliver these outcomes by focusing on our priorities for improvement: 

 Improve early intervention and prevention (adults, children and families) 

 Reduce the number of children looked after 

 Enable a greater number of adults to live independently 

 

There are a number of regional plans and strategies that help to deliver this objective, 

including the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board ‘Regional Plan 

2018-2023’ and the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board Annual Plan 2018 – 2019.  Work will be 

undertaken with key officers and other stakeholder to review and streamline existing plans 

and strategies.  This will help address duplication and identify new opportunities for joint 

working. 

 

How will we know if things are getting better? 
 

12.6. Each objective uses a consistent performance management framework which is captured 

on a resource known as a SOAP – strategy on a page.  This document identifies the 

wellbeing objectives, outcomes and key performance indicators; and forms the basis of 

self-evaluation. 

We will know things are better when: 

 We see a decrease in the number of children on the Child Protection Register or 

becoming looked after 

 There is an increase in the number of children who are able to live safely at home 

 Of the children who are looked after, a greater number have a stable school life 

 There is a reduction in the number of older people having to stay in hospital longer 

than necessary due to social care reasons 

 There is an increase in the number of adults who are able to live independently 

following a period of Reablement 

 More people are participating in physical activities 

 Of those that have been subject to domestic violence, more people have reported an 

improvement in their quality of life 
 

Would you like to know more? 

Visit the Council's website to learn more about: 

Safeguarding 

Help to live at home 

Social Care for Adults and Older People 

Equalities 

Sport and Leisure 

Mental Health 

 

Page 77

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/social-services-and-well-being/adult-social-care/safeguarding/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/social-services-and-well-being/adults-older-people/help-to-live-at-home-independently/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/social-services-and-well-being/adults-older-people/help-to-live-at-home-independently/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/equalities-and-welsh-language/equalities/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/leisure-parks-and-culture/active-merthyr-tydfil/
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/resident/social-services-and-well-being/adults-older-people/mental-health/


 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 22  
 

13. Steps to help achieve the seven national wellbeing goals 

The Council has a duty to take all reasonable steps on our journey to achieving the 7 

Wellbeing Goals and our Wellbeing Objectives.  Guidance from the Office of the Future 

Generations Commissioner describes these steps as ranging from simple changes that 

can be made quickly and easily to more ambitious and stretching actions, and ultimately to 

transformational actions that will lead the way to the ‘Wales We Want’ for future 

generations. 

We continually seek to make the most of the opportunities provided by the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations Act to shape how we do business.  Below are a selection of the steps 

we are taking to ensure that we as a Council can improve the wellbeing of future 

generations.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21st Century Schools  

As part of our commitment to provide future generations of children and young 

people with the best start to life, we are working to promote attractive and 

stimulating learning environments based on low carbon, energy efficient and 

sustainable design principles through the delivery of our 21st Century Schools and 

capital investment programmes. Working collaboratively with stakeholders including 

Planning, Property Services and with Blaenau Gwent’s Architectural Services, our 

ambition is to provide the very best sustainable low maintenance and cost-effective 

learning environments. The construction of our schools will be to the BREEAM 

excellent standard, which embodies ambitious ecology and biodiversity principles. 

All school capital investment projects use at least 15% recycled and reused 

materials.  

We are also committed to involving the community in the proposals including 

engagement regarding school re-organisation options, site selection, building design 

and intended use of site/buildings so that schools become increasingly valued and 

well utilised assets within our communities. As part of the capital investment 

proposals we aim to deliver colocation of early year’s education and childcare on 

school sites and to promoting the Welsh language by increasing the provision of 

school and childcare places through the medium of Welsh.  

Page 78



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 23  
 

 

 

Future pathways for pupils 

We want to make sure our children and young people are properly informed and well 

equipped to make the right choices about their long term future.  We equally want to 

be certain that as a council we are offering children and young people the choices that 

will help secure a better future. 

Working across the council and with external partners, we will take an integrated 

approach to first identify the range of education, training, and employment 

opportunities currently available locally and across the wider region of the Cardiff City 

Deal.  This will allow us to identify the most effective pathways for future skills 

requirements, and identify gaps in current provision.  

We want young people to start the discussion about future skills early in their 

education, so that they and their families are fully informed when it comes to making 

decisions about the future.  By working closely with schools, the college and 

businesses, we will make certain the curriculum offer for students meets future need. 

 

Financial capability 

Listening to the families we work with, financial capability was identified as an issue 

that negatively impacts wellbeing and acts as a barrier to positively engaging with 

services.  To support families take control of their debt and allow them to better plan 

for the future, we are working to preventing families from getting into crisis.  

Collaborating with Citizens Advice Merthyr Tydfil, we are providing bespoke support 

for families to help them take back control of their debt and empower them to be more 

sustainable.  To date we have worked with 13 families (consisting of 33 children) and 

£153,029.13 of debt has been dealt with.  In addition these families have benefitted 

from £46,636.23 of additional income.  We also work to build capacity within these 

families to avoid future issues of debt occurring and therefore providing these families 

with the space to be able to access other offers of support available to improve 

wellbeing. 

 

Page 79



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 24  
 

 

  

Wellbeing 

Our Youth Service currently work with young people in a number of our secondary 

school on programmes to support emotional wellbeing and this work will be rolled out 

so that we engage with as many young people as possible.  Working with partners 

such as the Central South Consortium and the regional Together 4 Mental Health 

Partnership we are developing a range of strategies to support children, young people 

and their families to develop their resilience. 

To encourage more pupils to be physically active we are delivering training 

programmes to teachers to develop their confidence and skills to enable them to 

design, implement and deliver physical education provision.  The aim is to have 

engaging and exciting physical education lessons that students will want to take part 

in, whilst supporting teachers to feel deliver them effectively. 

We want to promote an inclusive approach to physical activity in schools.  To help us 

achieve this we are rolling out the Insport Education programme which aims to support 

schools develop an inclusive environment by ensuring pupils with a disability have the 

opportunity to become more physically active. 

 

Wildlife Corridors 

Wildlife corridors have a huge role to play in helping to minimise the impact of pollution 

and boost biodiversity habitats, whilst simultaneously providing positive health and 

wellbeing benefits for individuals and communities. 

We are working to increase the number of wildlife corridors throughout the County 

Borough that will link habitats and help preserve wildlife in the midst of a developed 

urban environment.  The establishment of additional habitat corridors can also benefit 

people by helping to absorb the pollutants in the environment which have a negative 

impact on health.  

 

Page 80



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 25  
 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wildflower Seeding 
 

More than 97% of ancient wild flower meadows in the UK have been lost since the 

1930s. With this loss, road verge habitats became an important resource for a variety 

of wildlife including bees, butterflies, bats and birds. 

Preserving and managing these verges across the County Borough is a key priority.  

We are working with a variety of stakeholders to ensure we can restore and expand 

flower-rich habitats along our road networks.  Where possible, we will delay the first 

cutting of lowland grassy verges until late summer to allow plants to complete their life 

cycle to grow, flower and set seed.  This will improve the biodiversity of our road 

verges helping to safeguard the long term future for wildlife.  

Gully Waste 
 

Approximately one million tonnes of road sweeping and gully waste end up in UK 

landfills, in addition clogged gullies can contribute to the risk of flooding.  There are 

options available to us that we can use to try to prevent these issues from occurring in 

a way lessens the impact on the environment. 
 

Working with Caerphilly County Borough Council, we will recycle our gully and 

sweeper waste by using a cleaner and more ecological reed bed treatment system.  

The reed beds are an attractive addition to the environment whilst also helping to 

remove impurities from the waste, as the water percolates through them.  The 

remaining waste is left to dry and can then be separated into materials for recycling 

and the remainder blended with low grade soils and sold as blinding material.  

 

Reduction in Herbicides 
 

To help protect against the negative impact on biodiversity we have taken the decision 

to reduce the use of herbicides.  Collaborating with professional contractors who use a 

patented ‘weed it’ system that uses sensors to detect the chlorophyll in plants the 

herbicide is only sprayed where it is needed.  This targeted approach has led to an 

almost 60% reduction in herbicide use by the Council, reducing the potential harm to 

our environment, habitat and species. 

 

Page 81



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 26  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Development of a Drug Litter Reporting App 
 

We want to make sure that communities are safe and that both built and natural 

spaces are accessible and well used.  To address an identified issue around drug 

litter and related concerns around public safety, the Council developed an ‘app’ 

which would, in the first instance, be piloted with officers/ selected partners – this 

pilot began in November 2018.   
 

Early findings of the trial phase have been positive: it has supported evidence-led 

outreach work to be undertaken by substance misuse services such as Barod 

(formerly Drugaid).  In addition, there have been unanticipated positive outcomes 

including the intelligence gathered being used as part of Youth Engagement Project 

Team briefings to highlight the type of drugs in areas where young people gather so 

youth workers are aware and better prepared.   
 

Since its roll-out, the app has been further developed and now tracks rough sleeper 

items (such as bedding and tents) found in the area of reported drug litter.  This 

information is improving our understanding of the number of rough sleepers and is 

giving the Council a more realistic picture of how many people are “street homeless”.  

The trial for the app is set to run until August 2018 with a review taking place at that 

stage. 

Development of the Evening Economy 
The evening and night-time economy is an important driver of tourism, leisure and 
business growth within our towns. It consists of a wide range of activity in town 
centres between the hours of 5pm and 6am, including pubs, clubs, cafes, 
restaurants, retail, cinemas, theatres or concerts, meeting friends or attending 
community events. Balancing the competing demands of economic development, 
public safety and quality of life requires effective partnership working and 
engagement with residents and businesses. 
 

Many Town Centres have experienced a decline in recent years.  This has been 
recognised by the Council and its key partners who are developing an action plan 
that will focus on three core objectives:  wellbeing (a welcoming, clean and safe 
town centre); movement (a secure pattern of arrival, circulation and departure; and 
appeal (a vibrant choice and rich mix of entertainment and activity). 
 

Early action linked to the evening/night-time economy has identified that offering a 
range of cultural activities can attract a more diverse population to town centres later 
into the evening, including families and older people.  As a Council, we will aim to 
involve others in the development of the action plan, securing suggestions from 
many perspectives including residents and visitors to the Town Centre.  By using 
tools available to us, we will be able to monitor and measure the impact of the 
improvement activities we are making. 

Page 82



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 27  
 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Early Help Hub 

With a view to improving the existing early intervention and prevention services for 
vulnerable children and their families; we carried out a review of our Team Around 
the Family Service called MIA.  As part of this review, we asked families for their 
views about the current service, received input from partner organisations and 
considered 7 different models across Wales.  As a result of the review and feedback 
from families, we decided to develop an Early Help Hub, which will be implemented 
from 2019 / 2020.   
 
The Early Help Hub will bring together staff from children’s services and grant funded 
preventative services with a view to identifying need earlier and connecting families 
to early help. In this way we hope that public confidence in and take up of early help 
services will increase. We know that by providing the right service at the right time we 
can, in many cases prevent problems from developing or getting worse.   We will 
make sure that the Early Help Hub also works to enhance the information, advice 
and assistance that is available to Young Carers and families of children with 
disabilities. 

 

Page 83



 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE 
Wellbeing in our community   Page | 28  
 

14. Get involved 

14.1. There are a number of ways to get involved with the Council.  One of the main ways to get 

involved is through your local Councillor.  You can find out who your local Councillor is 

and how to get in touch with them by visiting the Council's website.   

14.2. We want to maintain community involvement and continue to develop our understanding 

of wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil.  We welcome you to share your thoughts on wellbeing or 

your ideas on how we can improve wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil at 

wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk. 

14.3. Scrutiny Committees have arrangements to allow people who live or work within the 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough to make representations on any matter being discussed. 

There are many different ways you may wish to get involved in the work of scrutiny, 

including: 

 suggesting a topic for scrutiny to investigate; 

 attending a meeting to listen to discussion and the debate; 

 attending a meeting to speak on an agenda item; or  

 providing information and evidence as a witness, to inform a particular piece of review 

work being undertaken by a scrutiny committee. 

 

14.4. Scrutiny Committees will consider requests to examine issues put forward from any sector 

of the public. To qualify, requests must:  affect a group or community of people; relate to a 

service, event or issue in which the Council has a significant stake; not be an issue which 

scrutiny has considered during the last 12 months; not be a matter dealt with by another 

County Borough Council Committee (e.g. planning issues) except where the issue relates 

to the Council’s decision-making process. 

 

You can also find us on: 

  www.facebook.com/merthyrtydfilcbc 

 

  www.twitter.com/merthyrcbc 

 

  www.youtube.com/c/MerthyrTydfilCBC 

Page 84

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1&LLL=0
mailto:wellbeing@merthyr.gov.uk
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/do-it-online/say-it/scrutiny-questionnaire/
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1628/scrutiny-public-speaking-arrangements-guidance.pdf
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/1629/being-a-witness-mtcbc.pdf
http://www.facebook.com/merthyrtydfilcbc
http://www.twitter.com/merthyrcbc
http://www.youtube.com/c/MerthyrTydfilCBC


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2018/19  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached draft work programme and approves, revises 
or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.2 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 28th March 2019  

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 09th April 2019 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. The key outcomes (or components) for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination. The key outcomes (or components) to support the 
response to this objective include:  
 

 Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the future;  

 Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;  

 Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural assets;  

 Developing safer communities; and  

 Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing market. 
 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside. The key outcomes (or components) for communities to 
protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside include:  
 

 Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution;  

 Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the waste 
hierarchy;  

 Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure and open 
spaces; and  

 Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon energy. 
 
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. To 
ensure a holistic approach is met in this objective, the key outcomes (or 
components) for Living Well will include:  
 

 Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;  

 Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community Resilience;  

 Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;  

 Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;  

 Clear and accessible information and advice; and  

 Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home 
 

 
3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 

that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 

Page 86



matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 

Page 87



e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 
pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

Page 88



g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 90



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

-- 
Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

29th May 2018 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Update from Task & Finish 

Group (Cllr Tanya Skinner / 

Mr Jeff Beard) 

The committee to discuss the draft work programme as prepared by the 

Task and Finish Group 

 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust 
 

Mark Thomas / John 
Selwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A progress update following the meeting on 26th 
March 2018.  
 

Referral from Full Council - 
Objections & Appeals Sub 
Committee Amendment 
Report 
 

Simon Jones / Geraint 
Morgan 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - To consider a referral from Council which resolved 
that: The entire report be referred to the relevant Scrutiny Committee for 
further consideration and then be referred back to Full Council for 
consideration. 

10th July 2018 

Draft Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

Gary Evans (Audit 
Manager) 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- To provide scrutiny with the opportunity to challenge 
and contribute to the  Draft Annual Governance Statement document 
before it gets reported to full Council 

Establishment of City Deal 
Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny 
 

No Officers invited. Report 
from Scrutiny Officer 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - to consider the establishment of, and governance 
arrangements for, a Joint Scrutiny Committee of the ten Councils involved in 
the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal.  It will be a decision for each authority if 
it wishes to participate in the proposed Joint Scrutiny Committee. 

Wellbeing Objective – 
Living Well 
 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones / Annabel 
Lloyd / Mark Anderton 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - LW Living Well - People are empowered to live 
independently within their communities, where they are safe and enjoy 
good physical and mental health. To ensure a holistic approach is met in this 
objective, the key outcomes (or components) for Living Well will include:  
• Safeguarding children and adults who are at risk of harm;  
• Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community 
Resilience;  
• Promoting healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical activity;  
• Promote good emotional wellbeing and improved mental health;  
• Clear and accessible information and advice; and  
• Services that provide people with the ability to live in their own home 
 

P
age 91



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

4th September 
2018 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust Update 

Officers from Merthyr 
Tydfil Leisure Trust,  
Mark Thomas and John 
Sellwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following the written report presented by officers 
from Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust at the meeting of 26th March 2018; 
Committee Members will receive a verbal update on progress made to date.   

Change Programme 
 

Ellis Cooper / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Scrutiny Members to review the ‘pre-decision’ status  
of areas identified for financial savings 
 

Draft Cabinet Work 
programme report 
following WAO report 

Task and Finish Group 
update (Cllr Skinner) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Discussed as part of the work programme item 17th 
October 2017.  A Task and Finish Group was established to report to Cabinet 
on developing a Cabinet Work Programme. The Committee to consider the 
first draft report of the Task and Finish group. 

9th October 
2018 

DRAFT Annual 
Performance Report 
 
 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Annual Performance Report is a statutory is a 
statutory document which the Council is required to publish to 
communicate our self-evaluation of delivery against our wellbeing 
objectives.  The Committee is requested to review the draft report and offer 
feedback on its’ content. 

Local Authority Support to 
the Third Sector Services 

Alyn Owen / Chris Long / 
Ryan Barry 

Monitoring & Scrutiny:  Local Authority Support to the Third Sector This 
item was as a result of a WAO report. Subsequent to the item being 
discussed at the scrutiny meeting an email was sent to the Chief Executive 
and the Cabinet Portfolio Member. A copy of the email is attached 
“Governance Scrutiny – WAO report “Local Authority…” As a result of 
scrutiny’s involvement a report was submitted to the Governance Services 
Scrutiny Committee meeting on 13th February. Here is a link to the agenda 
for 13th Feb (see item 3). This will remain on the scrutiny committees work 
programme. Minutes of meeting  

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust progress update 

Mark Thomas / John 
Sellwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A progress update following verbal update at the last 
meeting.  

P
age 92

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s36992/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2748/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Feb-2018%2016.00%20Scrutiny%20Governance%20Performance%20Business%20Change%20and%20Co.pdf?T=10&LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2748/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Feb-2018%2016.00%20Scrutiny%20Governance%20Performance%20Business%20Change%20and%20Co.pdf?T=10&LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2748/Printed%20minutes%2013th-Feb-2018%2016.00%20Scrutiny%20Governance%20Performance%20Business%20Change%20and%20Corpor.pdf?T=1&LLL=0


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

20th November 
2018 

Wellbeing Objective  - 
Environmental Wellbeing 
(including  Fly Tipping) 
 
 

Cheryllee Evans (other 
officers to be confirmed) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, 
enhance and promote our environment and countryside. The key outcomes 
(or components) for communities to protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside include:  
 

• Minimise environmental damage through prevention of pollution;  
• Maximise efficient use of materials and resources by means of the 

waste hierarchy;  
• Developing good quality, biodiverse and connected green 

infrastructure and open spaces; and  
• Promoting and supporting the use of renewable and low carbon 

energy. 

General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) 
 

Cllr Andrew Barry / Lisa 
Richards 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  This May (2018) the Data Protection Act will be 
replaced by the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR).The GDPR will 
ensure that our processing of personal information activities are fit for 
purpose within the digital age. The Authority will need to demonstrate 
compliance by completing “Data Protection Impact Assessments”.  This 
committee will seek assurance that the Authority is compliant with the Act. 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust progress update 
 

Mark Thomas / John 
Sellwood 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following the meeting on 9h October 2018, 
Members of the Trust were asked to come back to the Committee with a 
copy of the short-term recovery plan to outline its’ content and offer 
Committee Members some background as to its content. 

8th January 
2019 

Change Programme  
 
 
 
 

Ellis Cooper / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Scrutiny Members to review the ‘post-decision’ 
status of areas originally identified for financial savings and identified 
whether savings have been achieved, the impact of this service 
rationalisation etc. 
 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report - Improvement Assessment 2015-16: 
Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function . 1) Contrast and 
compare the WAO proposals for improvement in the report. 2) Comment on 
the single points of dependency across the Authority – how much of a risk is 
this in terms of capacity and capability of the Authority (workforce 
planning). 3) An update on corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 
3 years.  4) a quarterly report on agency staff employed by the local 
authority including financial details / costs. 

P
age 93

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  Anti-Poverty Action Plan 
 

Sue Walker / Lisa Curtis-
Jones / Chris Hole 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Reducing the number of people who live in poverty 
is a priority for Welsh Government, local authorities and other public and 
third sector partners in Wales.  Local authorities have their own 
arrangements and plans in place to tackle poverty and they work with 
partners to deliver key Welsh Government programmes. The committee 
wants a report to include what arrangements are in place in the County 
Borough; and wish to see the associated strategy and action plan. 
 

26th February 
2019 

Tackling Poverty  
 
  **  Rescheduled Item  ** 
 

Sue Walker / Lisa Curtis-
Jones / Alyn Owen 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Reducing the number of people who live in poverty 
is a priority for Welsh Government, local authorities and other public and 
third sector partners in Wales.  Local authorities have their own 
arrangements and plans in place to tackle poverty and they work with 
partners to deliver key Welsh Government programmes. The Committee will 
receive a report to include what arrangements are in place in Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough. 
 

Wellbeing Objective – Best 
Start to Life 
 
 

Sue Walker / Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: -  BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get 
the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be 
successful learners and confident individuals. The key outcomes (or 
components) for Best Start to Life are: 
• Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  
• Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  
• Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  
• Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 

P
age 94



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  

9th April 2019 

Wellbeing Objective – 
Working Life 
 
 

Alyn Owen / Chris Long / 
Steve Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop 
the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a developing, safe 
infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as an attractive destination. 
The key outcomes (or components) to support the response to this objective 
include:  
 

• Making skills work for Merthyr Tydfil: developing the workforce of the 
future;  
• Developing the environment and infrastructure for business to flourish;  
• Communities protect, enhance and promote our heritage and cultural 
assets;  
• Developing safer communities; and  
• Supporting and accommodating those most disadvantaged in the housing 
market 
 

Recommendations made 
by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 
Commissioners etc.).  

 

Internal Audit Department Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor:- To receive a report on regulatory body 
recommendations and directions to see if this Authority is addressing them 
satisfactorily. 
 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust progress update 

Mark Thomas / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A progress update following the meeting on 26th 
March 2018.  

   

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Wellbeing Objectives 
reporting to scrutiny 

Wellbeing Objectives reporting to scrutiny – At the Neighbourhood Services Scrutiny committee meeting 
on 30th October 2018 it was felt that as the first round of reporting to each of the scrutiny committees was 
nearing an end, that the committee would comment on experiences to date. As such an email was sent to 
the Chief Executive and Cabinet Portfolio Member (and others) asking that the Performance Team review 
progress to date and identify any lessons learned. A copy of the email is attached “Wellbeing Objectives 
reporting to Scrutiny”. Subsequently a report was submitted to the Governance Scrutiny committee 
Report to Governance scrutiny on 9th January 2018  Scrutiny awaits a further report on this issue and this 
has been added to the work programme (date to be agreed). 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Emergency Planning Rob 
Gough / Cllr Andrew Barry 

Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: - The committee wants to know what plans are in place to minimise the 
impact of any disaster on the community and environment and manage the return to normality. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Household Waste and 
Recycling Centres 

Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: Report to Cabinet 27th September 2017. Contract expires Sept 2018. 
Follow up on progress around March 2019 on what progress there has been since 

P
age 95

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=328&MId=2738&Ver=4&LLL=0
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s38104/Committee%20Report.pdf?LLL=0


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2018/19 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Wales Audit Office - Good 
governance when 
determining significant 
service changes – National 
Summary  
As part of scrutiny review 

http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Good-Governance-2017-Eng_0.pdf 
 
The report comes up with a number of “learning points” throughout the report, a number of which relate 
to scrutiny. These need to be summarised and used to change the way scrutiny works. 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Community Engagement / 
Constitution 
 

At the meeting of 26th March 2018 a Task and Finish Group was agreed to take forward Community 
Engagement and how this can be incorporated into the Constitution. ToR yet to be agreed. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Fly-tipping Task & Finish 
Group Feedback 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  To review the findings of the Task & Finish Group established to review the issue of 
fly-tipping (see Wellbeing Objective - Environmental Wellbeing (including Fly Tipping) October 2018. Has a 
T&FG been established? 

Dates as per 
work 
programme 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust 
 

At the Joint Audit and Scrutiny meeting on 26th March 2018, the Trust advised that a lot of work has gone 
on. The committee to agree what they require when discussing the work programme at every meeting.    

P
age 96

http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Good-Governance-2017-Eng_0.pdf

	Agenda
	3 Recommendations made by external regulators (WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG Commissioners etc.)
	Appendix

	4 Working Life
	5 Statement of Wellbeing and Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Work Programme 2018/19
	Appendix 1


